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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE 

Weiler-Johnson house is located on the north side of West Main Street 
and east side of Altamont. The south facing house is a side gabled, 
modified L-shape, with a 3 story square block 3 bays by 2 and a 2 story 
northern wing. A two-tiered porch occupies interior wall or east side 
of wing. 

It is constructed of coursed fieldstone with end chimneys. The west 
side chimney is incised with construction date of 1805 and the first owner's 
initials. The present standing seam tin roof is laid over extant cedar 
shingle. The upper half of north wing is frame, marking an early 20th 
century addition of 3 rooms to original structure. 

Windows are 12-over-8 on front (south) facade and 9-over-6 elsewhere 
except for two modified for later porch access. 

A center hall separates the rooms into the traditional German plan of 
one by two rooms in the main block. Original detailing is present 
throughout in the beaded, eared moulding of paneled doors and windows. 
Modest incised or fluted design grace the wooden mantels. Plank doors 
to original stable yard are extant; one with wrought iron strap hinge, 
possibly manufactured by original owner. The modern strip flooring 
is laid over random width pine. 
An original cast iron German language fireback occupies the altered 
kitchen fireplace—its twin was lost to sale in 1963. 

The grounds are graced by a wrought iron fence enclosing a box wood 
garden. Mature .\ trees surround the house. Nothing remains of the 
original log stable buildings accessed through east side driveway or 
other original outbuildings. 
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE 

Master craftsman and entrepeneur Jacob Weller " B.S." built this large fieldstone 
Federal era structure in 1805-6 in the new Town of Mechanics (now Thurmont). 
Traditional Anglo-Germanic architectural plan and detailing abound throughout 
dating from its use as the first inn in the town. Later owners included 
merchant George Johnson. Its 20th century owners, the Zimmerman sisters, opened 
the house to summer boarders. It has been beautifully restored by its present 
owners. 

HISTORY AND SUPPORT 

According to the Moravian Church records, in JUly 7, 1807, George Weller and 
Catherine Huber were married at the house of Jacob Weller.B.S., in the " new 
town". This is one of the earliest references to Mechanicstown (later Thurmont). 
which was laid out ca. 1803 at the crossing of roads west and north When John 
Creeger marked out the town lots, they adjoined the Weller famiy's 110 acre 
farm on tracts "Beauty" and "Buckshorn". The third generation on this tract 
was Jacob Weller, who always signed documents as "B.S." to distinguish himself 
from the other Jacob Wellers in the vicinity. He paid £ 38 for lots 6 & 7 on 
the north side of "Main road from Hagerstown to Baltimore" for 1 acre and an 
additional 4 lots on the south side of the road comprising 2 acres. (Land Record 
WR 27-327). He also purchased lot 8 the same day which became the site of the 
large log stable and driveway behind his inn. ̂  

Construction began on the Weller house immediately and was memorialized on the 
west side chimney where "J.W.B.S. 1805" was inscribed. The original house rises 
3 stories/w5tnranz story porch on interior of north end wing. The three bay 
symmetrical facade has 12-over-8 windows on the street elevation with 9-over-
6 on the sides. Inside the German influence is evident in the one by two lay­
out of the rooms divided by the center hall; original cast iron fireback with 
German motto; dog-eared moulding and mantels. Some of Weller's own forge work 
remains in strapwork hinges of plank doors opening to stable yard of original 
inn. 
While Weller was owner of this building he built and operated the only edge 
tool factory in Western Maryland, making shovels, axes, etc. from the raw iron 
carted to Mechanicstown from the Catoctin Furnace three miles south of town. 

CONTINUE ON SEPARATE SHEET IF NECESSARY 
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Mr.Weller invested heavily in lots and structures in town. On one of the lots 
opposite his inn he built what would become known as "The Match House". 

An 1841 article about Mechanicstown in the Baltimore Phoenix and Budget 
represents Mr. Weller as being the first hostlier in town. 3 Evidence of this 
building's use as the first inn is bolstered by the $4,000 sale price to John 
Leatherman in 1813. (WR 44-375). 

In April 1817 John Leatherman resold the property for the same $4,000. The 
land was assessed to James Hammett in 1825 taxes, but that year Hammett sold 
it to Sarah Foster, his sister-in-law for $1,000. For an additional thousand 
Sarah bought 3 negro slaves ages 14-27,furniture including 2 desks, 2 cupboard, 
bedsteads" with cheats (sic)"(Land Records JS 21-583). 4 

During the next few years, Mechanicstown saw its prosperity and population 
increase. Many new industries arose, including Jacob Weller & Son's introduction 
and manufacturing of the first friction matches in the U.S.; woolen mills, 
tanneries and other business thrived alongside Little Hunting Creek. On the 
nearby original tract now called "Weller's Correction", Jacob built a the first 
church and cemetery. The street now abutting the west side of subject house 
was the lane to the church. In later years some of this acreage was added to 
the Weller-Johnson house lot. Unfortunately Jacob Weller, over extended himself 
financially and would end up insolvent, forced to sell all his property at the 
hands of trustees. The cemetery holds both the 1831 grave of his father and 
his own in 1846. The church is now known as Weller United Methodist in memory 
of Thurmont's most influential early citizen. 

George Johnson was a young clerk in the one of the local stores in these years. 
Born in Lynn, Massachusetts, he was in Mechanicstown by 1829 when he witnessed 
the will of Jacob Weller, Senior (called "Old Jake") .He was living in the 
Weller's "Match House" in the 1850 Census. At Sarah Foster's death in 1856 
she devised her house to her Hammet nephew and niece, who soon sold the house 
to Mr. Johnson who had remarried and needed a larger home. The connection 
between the Weller/Johnson continued when in 1871 George Johnson located his 
dry goods, grocery store near the site of the old tilt forge. 

In 1863 George purchased acreage behind his house for over 415 feet north along 
the Church Alley (now Altamont Street). George and wife Hannah died within a 
year of each other in 1897-98. Their executors sold the old Weller house to fi 

Cordelia Zimmerman for $1,650 in 1899, who then sold to her sister Mrs Castle. 
In 1907 Mrs. Castle deeded the house to her spinster nieces Mattie and Bessie 
Zimmerman, but continued to make her home with them. A new three room 
"apartment" was built over old kitchen section, which was her home until her 
death in 1935. 

the 
During the next 50 years the Zimmerman sisters opened /house for summer visitors, 
who often spent the whole season in Thurmont. Numerous trains ran from 
Baltimore to the mountain areas every day. In addition to second floor addition, 
a large west side porch in the newest "colonial revival" style was added. The 
old-fashioned, original kitchen fireplace was closed up, burying and preserving 
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the german-style fireback for later discovery. The Zimmerman sister's house 
was on a Homemakers Tour in late 1930's, at which time the placement of rooms 
in the Weller era was documented, with the right side room identified as the 
tap-room or tavern part. Across the hall was the large dining room and kitchen 
combined in two rooms, but now divided into three. The 1929 modernization hid 
the random width plank floor with modern pine; standing seam tin roof was laid 
over the old cedar shingles. One of the most interesting 19th century souveneirs 
is the charred rafters in the attic, scarred by a fire when one of the Weller 
antecedents was showing off her wedding clothes by candlelight which upset and 
caused their destruction. " 

In July 1962 the Catoctin Enterprise newspaper advertised the house and contents 
at auction sale. The winning bid of $15,500 included some antique furniture,and 
the original tavern room fireback. (The remaining one was bricked up in the 
old kitchen). 

Guy Angell and Robert Dunn were owners between 1963 to 1986 when it was 
purchased by its current owners John and Carol Ford who have spent several years, 
rehabilitating and restoring the old house to reflect its original style and 
detailing. The wood detailing has been stripped and repainted its original 
Prussian Blue and Turkey red colors. The beautiful beaded, eared mouldings and 
simple mantles ,each one differently incised or fluted have been restored. The 
charred attic rafters have been left in situ but unsympathetic 20th century 
elements have been removed. 

Footnotes: 
1. The original tracts "Beauty" and "Bucks Horn" were combined and resurveyed 

for Jacob Weller B.S. in 1804. This 110 acres was renamed "Fire In The Mountain", 
however 19th century deeds out of this acreage refer to it as "Weller1 s Correction" 
for which no patent has been found. 

2. Fred. Co Land Records, WR 27-327 and 326. 
3. Weller (1775-1846) would have still been alive when this article was 

published. Entitled "Machanicstown" and signed "A.M.B", it is in the bound volume 
of Baltimore Phoenix and Budget at the Maryland Historical Society. 

4. The most intriguing mystery surrounding this house is the find of a 12 
inch full face portrait of a young black girl done in lamp black or some other 
permanent pigment which has impregnated the wood. It was found under several layers 
of paint on the dado board of stair landing to third floor. The crude portrait 
is a stereotypical caricature of a "pickaninny" with fly-away pigtails and a wide 
open mouth. 

5. Catoctin Clarion, June 10, 1871 
6. Land Records DHH 3-553 eq seq. 
7. In 1971 the taproom . fireback was in a Keymar, Md. house. Its loose 

translation is contained in an unpublished letter from Howard R. Damuth, now part 
of Damuth Collection of the Thurmont Historical Society. Translation: 

Who ever will laugh at this shouldn't 
Unless he can do better 
Advice can many give 
Doing it is the creator's pleasure. 

8. Damuth Collection-Thurmont Historical Society, containing personal recollections, 
undated newspaper clippings and the events and locales of 1951 Bi-Centennial 
Committee. 
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Weller-Johnson House 
27 W. Main Street (MD 77), Thurmont 
Catoctin Furnace Quadrangle 

1993-95 Aerial Photo Tax Map752, p. 2236 






























